

Influence of nitrogen levels and weed management practices on soil quality of wetland rice

ABSTRACT

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is one of the most popular cereal crops serves as the staple food for world's half of the population. Nutrients and weeds are two important factors that influence ~~that and~~ determine the productivity of the wetland rice. Nitrogen (N) is major nutrient that ~~mostly~~ contributes ~~most~~ in rice production. Weeds are the major constraint limiting high productivity of rice. Weeds may remove considerable quantity of nutrients besides competing for light; space and moisture thus become a major constraint in wetland rice. Considering these, a field experiment was conducted for two successive ~~khari~~ seasons of 2018 and 2019 at Agricultural Research Farm, B.H.U., Varanasi, UP (India). The study included influence of nitrogen levels and weeds management practices (WMP) post harvest soil quality of wetland rice. The experiment was laid out in split plot design involving five nitrogen levels viz. control, 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through inorganic, 60 kg N ha⁻¹ as farmyard manure (FYM), 90 kg N ha⁻¹ & 120 kg N ha⁻¹ in main plots and four weed management practices viz. *Azolla* @ 2 t ha⁻¹, BGA 1.25 kg ha⁻¹, two hand weeding (2HW) at 20 & 40 days after transplanting (DAT) along with weedy in sub plots and replicated ~~thrice~~. The results showed that the FYM treated plots exhibited maximum residual NPK and organic carbon with comparatively less pH in post harvest soil of wetland rice. Post harvest soil studies indicated that among weed management practices *Azolla* facilitated higher residual NPK and organic carbon and least pH in wetland rice field.

Keywords: Wetland rice, nitrogen levels, weed management practices, *Azolla* and BGA

1. INTRODUCTION

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is one of the most popular cereal crops in the world since it serves as the staple food for world's half of the population. About 90 % of world's area under rice is in Asia and also about 90 % of world rice is produced and consumed in Asia. Rice is a prime food crop for more than 65% of the people and provides livelihood security to 70% of Indian population [1]. In India, the area under rice cultivation is around 43.77 m ha with 112.87 million tonnes of production and 2.57 tons ha⁻¹ productivity. Uttar Pradesh is the major rice producer having ~~an~~ area, production and productivity of 5.81 million ha, 13.27 million tons and 2.28 tha⁻¹, respectively [2].

Among the growth factors, nitrogen (N) fertilization and weed management assume prime importance for higher rice production. Nitrogen becomes an integral part of chlorophyll consequently; it plays a vital role in improving the growth, yields and quality of rice. Besides these, N helps in improving photosynthetic capacity, grain filling and promoting carbohydrate accumulation in culms and leaf sheaths [3]. The great response of N ~~on to~~ growth and yield of rice ~~it~~ is considered as a yield-limiting nutrient in rice production [4]. An increase in nitrogen supply significantly increases the plant height, number of tillers hill⁻¹, dry matter, straw yield and NPK uptake by crop [5]. Wetland rice removes substantial amount of major as well as minor nutrients from the soil. Inadequate N in soils show reduced leaf area limiting light interception thereby causing reduced photosynthesis which finally has an effect on biomass growth and yields of crop [6]. ~~The excessive~~ nitrogen fertilization is a serious problem in rice-producing areas in India, contributing to soil degradation, groundwater pollution and the emission of ammonia and greenhouse gases. The unnecessary use of nitrogenous fertilizer may cause adverse effects on rice production viz., lodging, delayed maturity, susceptibility to insect-pests and ultimately reduces yield [7]. Excessive nitrogen fertilization is a serious problem in rice-producing areas in India, contributing to soil degradation, groundwater pollution and the emission of ammonia and greenhouse gases. Additionally, improper use of N fertilizer is becoming expensive and leading the cost of production. Therefore, understanding ~~of~~ suitable nitrogen rates is not only essential for optimizing rice production and quality but also important for protecting the environment. The balanced fertilization to soil also affects the soil quality viz. organic matter content, pH and concentration of mineral nutrients and their availability in soil solution [8 and 9]. Organic manures/FYM plays a vital role in maintenance of physical and biological condition of soil. It

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Comment [A1]: Replace this expression

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Strikethrough

Comment [A2]: What does it mean?

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

is not only the source of major and micronutrients ~~nutrients~~, but also increases the efficiency of applied nutrients in soil.

Weeds are undesirable plants interfering with natural resources and limiting the yields of rice [10]. Weeds are complex in nature and have negative effects on profitable rice crop production. Yield losses due to weeds vary according to crops, weed species and farming practices. However, in wetland rice it may reduce about 20-50 % in yield. Weeds removed about 21-42 kg N, 10-13.5 kg P and 17-27 kg K ha⁻¹ in transplanted rice [11]. Hence, weed control is a major component for fully driven of applied fertilizers in crop production.

The floating water fern *Azolla* have a potent source of organic fertilizer in rice production. Similarly, the fertilizing value of blue-green algae (BGA) in rice fields is well-known and has been utilized over India. The N-fixing BGA are ~~the~~ most important bio-fertilizers in improving the productivity of rice fields and maintaining the soil health. Growth of rice viz. plant height, number of tillers hill⁻¹, dry matter production hill⁻¹ were significantly affected by use of bio-fertilizers [12]. Application of bio-fertilizers improves in growth parameters due to improve the availability of nitrogen and growth promoting substances which ultimately augmented the plant growth [13]. The mat of *Azolla* could significantly reduce weed flora [14] however, ~~this these~~ effect depends on thickness of mat and density of weed flora present in field. The smothering effect of BGA (algal blooms) on weeds is often advocated in literatures but information regarding the effect of BGA on weeds is lacking [15]. It has, therefore, become necessary to look for alternative renewable resources for N supply as well as weed management in wet-land rice.

Due to complex weed flora and poor nutrient and weed management practices the rice cultivation is still vulnerable and risky in India. Thus the present study was undertaken to find out the suitable dose of N along with appropriate WMP for better post-harvest soil quality of wetland rice.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Description of the experimental site

A field investigation was carried out during rainy seasons of 2018 and 2019 at Agricultural Research Farm, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi (25°32' N latitude and 82°97' E) in Northern Gangetic alluvial plains of Varanasi. Soil of the experimental site was sandy clay loam in texture, well drained, slightly alkaline in reaction, low in available nitrogen and organic carbon, medium in available phosphorus and potassium. Total rainfall received during the both year of experimental crop growing period, 2018 and 2019 was 780.1 mm and 1368.3 mm, respectively. Prior to start of experiment, composite soil samples were drawn randomly (0-15 cm) from 10 places with the help of screw auger, dried them and passed through 2.0 mm sieve and subjected to chemical analyses.

2.2 Experimental Description

Malaviya Basmati Dhan 10-9 (HUBR 10-9) is a semi dwarf aromatic variety of rice, was used in experiment. Seeds were broadcasted uniformly @ 30 kg ha⁻¹ over well prepared seed bed for raising the nursery during both years of experiment. The experiment was laid out in split plot design, where main plot consisted of five nitrogen levels (Control, 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through inorganic, 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through FYM, 90 kg N ha⁻¹, 120 kg N ha⁻¹) and four weed management practices (*Azolla* @ 2 t ha⁻¹, BGA @ 1.25 kg ha⁻¹, 2 HW at 2 hand weeding at 20-25 and 40-45 DAT and weedy check) in subplot replicated thrice during both study years.

2.3 Manure and fertilizer application

As per treatment, well decomposed FYM (11.76 t ha⁻¹ and 12.24 t ha⁻¹) was applied on the basis of their nitrogen (N) content (0.51 and 0.49 %) in 2018 and 2019, respectively. Nitrogen through inorganic was applied as per treatments (60, 90 and 120 kg ha⁻¹). The half dose (50 %) of inorganic N and full dose of FYM and recommended dose of phosphorus (60 kg ha⁻¹) (ref), potassium (60 kg ha⁻¹) and zinc (5 kg ha⁻¹) was applied as basal. The remaining half (50%) inorganic N was applied in to two splits i.e. basal 25 % at active tillering and 25 % panicle initiation stage.

2.4 Bio-inoculants (*Azolla* and BGA) application

The *Azolla* species used during experiment was *Azolla microphylla* collected from IARI, New Delhi. To obtain the required quantity of *Azolla* was multiplied in pits at Agricultural Research Farm, I.

Comment [A3]: Where is the data. Please show a table including

Comment [A4]: What does it mean?

Comment [A5]: Again, What does it mean?

Ag. Sc., BHU, Varanasi (UP). As per treatment *Azolla* was applied @ 2 t ha⁻¹ at 7 days after transplanting (DAT) in standing water and incorporated at 30 DAT during both study years. The dried and powdered composite algal culture (*Calothrix*, *Anabaena* & *Aulosira*) was applied @ 1.25 kg ha⁻¹ in standing water at 7 DAT.

Comment [A6]: You ca correct to "at rate of"

2.5 Soil preparation and transplanting

After harvesting of rabi crop the experimental area was deep ploughed with MB plough in summer. Again field was in first week of July and dry weeds and stubbles were removed from field. Thereafter, puddling was done by twice cross ploughing with cultivator once with rotavator and in about 10 cm standing water and finally layout the experiment was laid out as per experimental design. Two seedling hill⁻¹ transplanted at a distance of 20 × 15 cm during both study the years.

2.6 Data collection

2.6.1 Soil sampling and processing

To judge the soil fertility status of post harvest soil of experimental filed, the five random soil samples were taken from a depth of 0-15 cm from ten places of with the help of screw auger after harvest of test crop in each year of field experimentation. The collected samples were thoroughly mixed to make a composite soil sample of 1000 g weight.

The soil samples were kept in polythene and labeled them as per treatment. The tagged samples were brought to the laboratory, shade dried, grounded and passed through 20 mm mesh sieve. Obtained soil samples were analyzed for chemical characteristics viz., EC, pH, organic carbon and available soil NPK. The results of analysis for soil parameters viz. texture, pH, electrical conductivity, organic carbon, available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium along with methods employed for each analysis have been given below (Table 1). The soil of the experimental site was sandy clay loam in texture, well drained, slightly alkaline in reaction, low in available nitrogen and organic carbon, medium in available phosphorus and potassium.

Comment [A7]: Is it polythene bags or what?

Comment [A8]: Again where is the data?

Table 1: The chemical analyses of post harvest soil of experimental field

Particulars	Method employed	Reference
Chemical properties		
Soil reaction pH (1:2.5 soil : water suspension)	Glass electrode digital pH meter	[16]
Electrical conductivity(d Sm ⁻¹) at 25°C	Systronics electrical conductivity meter	[16]
Organic carbon (%)	Walkley and Black's rapid titration method	[17]
Available nitrogen (kg ha ⁻¹)	Alkaline permanganate method	[18]
Available phosphorus (kg ha ⁻¹)	0.5 M NaHCO ₃ extractable Olsen's method	[19]
Available potassium (kg ha ⁻¹)	Ammonium acetate extractable flame photometer method	[16]

2.6.2 Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to the data collected by applying the procedure of split plot design (SPD) as described by Gomez and Gomez [20] to identify the treatment effects. The means between treatments were compared with the least significant difference (LSD) to test significant variations between treatments. The standard error of mean (SE_{m_j}) and least significant difference (LSD) were calculated if F-test was found to be significant at 5% level of significance.

Comment [A9]: Please correct SE_{m_j}

2.3 RESULT AND DISCUSSION

Different nitrogen levels could not exert significant effect on electrical conductivity (EC) of soil after harvest of crop. Nevertheless, nitrogen levels had significant effect on soil pH, soil organic matter and available soil NPK after harvest of crop during both years (Table 2 and Table 3). It is clear from data that application of 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through FYM resulted least soil pH which was found to be at par with 120 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2018 and 90 kg N ha⁻¹ and 120 kg N ha⁻¹ during 2019. The least soil pH in FYM treated plots might be due to organic acids produced during degradation of organic materials that resulted into lower soil pH. Mehandi *et al.* (2011) [21] also reported lowest soil pH with application FYM after harvest of rice. Similar observation was recorded by Sunita Gaind in 2015 [22]. The use of 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through FYM caused significantly higher soil organic carbon content over rest of the treatment during both experimental years. Remaining levels of nitrogen viz., N₁, N₂, N₃ & N₄ was remained on par with each other in respect to organic carbon content during both the years. Presence of organic carbon in FYM is mainly responsible for higher organic carbon content in post harvest soil of FYM treated plots. Similar findings were reported by pervious workers [23]. Significantly maximum residual nitrogen & phosphorus in soil was found with 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through FYM however, found at par with 90 kg N ha⁻¹ & 120 kg N ha⁻¹ only in 2018. Higher available potassium in soil was also exert in 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through FYM treated plot which was found significantly superior over 120 kg N ha⁻¹ and 90 & 120 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2018 and 2019, respectively. The higher residual NPK in post harvest soil with FYM application might be due to solubility action of organic acids produced during organic materials decomposition increases the release of native NPK in soil. Improvement in soil available phosphorus with FYM application could be credited to many factors, such as the addition of P through FYM and retardation of soil P fixation by organic anions formed during FYM decomposition [24]. Similar observations were found by pervious workers [23].

Comment [A10]: Wrong citation format

Various weed management practices could not achieved the level of significance in respect to effect on electrical conductivity (EC) of soil. Nevertheless, weed management practices effect significantly on soil pH, soil organic matter and available soil NPK after harvest of crop (Table 2 and Table 3). Among weed management practices application of *Azolla* @ 2 t ha⁻¹ recorded least soil pH remained on par with use of BGA @ 1.25 kg ha⁻¹ during both study years and significantly superior over rest of the treatments. The use of *Azolla* @ 2 t ha⁻¹ and BGA resulted inferior from initial value of pH. The addition of organic acids during the biomass decomposing is major factors to reduction of soil pH in *Azolla* and BGA treated plots. Similar findings were also reported by Pabby *et al.* (2004) [25]. Use of *Azolla* @ 2 t ha⁻¹ resulted maximum organic matter content which was found significantly superior over rest of the treatments during both study years. The highest organic matter content with *Azolla* treated plots might be due to direct addition in soil after decomposition of *Azolla* biomass. Kotpal *et al.* (2003) [26] reported similar findings. The use of *Azolla* @ 2 t ha⁻¹ proved significantly superior in respect to available NPK in post harvested soil. Residual soil N with BGA @ 1.25 kg ha⁻¹ & weed free treatment were found to be at par with each other and superior over weedy check during the years. In respect of residual phosphorus and potassium, use of BGA @ 1.25 kg ha⁻¹ resulted significantly superior over weedy check only in 2019. Higher residual nutrients in terms of N, P and K were noted with *Azolla* treated plots that might be due to on dry weight basis, *Azolla* had 2.09 and 2.17 % nitrogen, 0.33-0.39 % phosphorous and 0.95-0.98 % potassium during 2018 and 2019, respectively which after decomposition is readily released in soil and increased soil urease & phosphatase activity [27] which might be factors for release and addition of more nutrients in soil. These findings were duly supported by Cheng *et al.* (2014) [28] and Oyange *et al.* (2019) [29].

Table 2: Effect of nitrogen levels and weed management practices on pH, electrical conductivity (EC) and organic carbon (%) post harvest soil

Treatments	pH		EC		Organic carbon (%)	
	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019
Nitrogen levels						
N ₁ : Control	7.494	7.242	0.272	0.303	0.452	0.460
N ₂ : 60 kg ha ⁻¹ (inorganic)	7.466	7.236	0.273	0.296	0.456	0.466
N ₃ : 60 kg ha ⁻¹ (FYM)	7.190	7.000	0.264	0.284	0.550	0.601
N ₄ : 90 kg ha ⁻¹ (inorganic)	7.381	7.142	0.268	0.291	0.466	0.467
N ₅ : 120 kg ha ⁻¹ (inorganic)	7.319	7.088	0.262	0.285	0.473	0.472
SEm±	0.053	0.051	0.006	0.007	0.015	0.010
LSD (p=0.05)	0.175	0.166	NS	NS	0.048	0.034
Weed management practices						
W ₁ : Azolla (2 t ha ⁻¹)	7.271	7.053	0.262	0.286	0.595	0.613
W ₂ : BGA (1.25 Kg ha ⁻¹)	7.352	7.123	0.269	0.293	0.482	0.495
W ₃ : 2 HW	7.451	7.215	0.271	0.295	0.429	0.438
W ₄ : Weedy	7.405	7.174	0.269	0.292	0.412	0.426
SEm±	0.036	0.034	0.003	0.006	0.013	0.012
LSD (p=0.05)	0.103	0.097	NS	NS	0.036	0.034
Initial values	7.400	7.350	0.279	0.286	0.475	0.491

Note: 2 HW = 2 Hand weeding at 20 and 40 DAT during both the years

Table 3: Effect of nitrogen levels and weed management practices on residual NPK status (kg ha⁻¹) of post harvest soil

Treatments	Available nitrogen (kg ha ⁻¹)		Available phosphorus (kg ha ⁻¹)		Available potassium (kg ha ⁻¹)	
	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019
Nitrogen levels						
N ₁ : Control	199.05	205.52	16.81	18.70	159.04	166.40
N ₂ : 60 kg ha ⁻¹ (inorganic)	208.77	214.30	16.57	17.89	157.05	162.57
N ₃ : 60 kg ha ⁻¹ (FYM)	215.10	224.52	17.52	20.14	162.03	173.05
N ₄ : 90 kg ha ⁻¹ (inorganic)	210.82	217.23	15.72	16.40	155.59	159.94
N ₅ : 120 kg ha ⁻¹ (inorganic)	212.92	220.75	15.06	16.26	143.74	147.55
SEm±	1.45	1.04	0.33	0.55	3.54	3.36
LSD (p=0.05)	4.73	3.40	1.07	1.80	11.55	10.97
Weed management practices						
W ₁ : Azolla (2 t ha ⁻¹)	214.44	221.57	17.22	18.81	166.01	172.33
W ₂ : BGA (1.25 Kg ha ⁻¹)	210.46	217.00	16.36	17.95	155.27	163.13
W ₃ : 2 HW	208.12	215.89	16.04	17.83	151.69	158.16
W ₄ : Weedy	204.30	211.39	15.73	16.91	149.00	153.99
SEm±	0.91	0.71	0.25	0.28	2.21	2.19
LSD (p=0.05)	2.64	1.27	0.73	0.79	6.39	6.34
Initial values	205.67	213.48	15.63	17.10	150.60	158.11

Note: 2 HW = (2 Hand weeding at 20 and 40 DAT during both the years)

2.4 CONCLUSION

The post harvest soil studies in wetland rice indicated that use of 60 kg N ha⁻¹ through FYM exhibited maximum residual NPK and organic carbon. Similarly, among weed management practices use of Azolla @ 2 t ha⁻¹ favored higher residual NPK and organic carbon during both experimental years.

References:

1. Kulkarni MV, Patel AM and Pawar Y. Influence of INM on soil physical parameters and yield of transplanted and drilled rice. The Ecoscan. 2015; 9: 377-379.

2. Anonymous, Agricultural Statistics at a Glance, Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Department of Agriculture and Cooperation, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India, New Delhi, 2019.
3. Mae T. Physiological nitrogen efficiency in rice: Nitrogen utilization, photosynthesis, and yield potential. *Plant and Soil*. 1997; 196 (2): 201–210.
4. Samonte SOPB, Wilson LT, Medley JC, Pinson SRM, C- Clung AMM, Lales JS. Nitrogen utilization efficiency: relationships with grain yield, grain protein, and yield-related traits in rice. *Agronomy Journal*. 2006; 98: 168-176.
5. Meena SL, Surendra S, Shivay YS and Singh S. Response of hybrid rice (*Oryza sativa*) to nitrogen and potassium application in sandy clay loam soils. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.* 2003; 73(1): 8-11.
6. Sinclair, TN. Nitrogen influence on the physiology of crop yield. In: *Theoretical Production Ecology: Reflections and Prospects* (Eds.: R. Rabbinge, J. Goudriaan, H. van Keulen, F.W.T.P. de Vries, H.H. van Laar). Pudoc Wageningen. 2007. p. 41-55.
7. Uddin MH. Effect of plant spacing and nitrogen levels on yield of transplanted Aman rice cv. BR39. MSc Thesis, Department of Agronomy. Bangladesh Agriculture University, Mymensingh. 2003; 16–44.
8. Machado CT, De T, Furlani AMC. Kinetics of phosphorous uptake and root morphology of local and improved varieties of maize. *Sci Agric*. 2004; 61(1): 1–12.
9. Cakmak I. Biofortification of cereal grains with zinc by applying zinc fertilizers. *Biozoom*. 2009; (1): 2–7.
10. Hazarika UK, Singh R and Singh NP. Ecological distribution of weed flora in Meghalaya: Their intensity of occurrence in field crops and management. *Research Bulletin-2*, 2001.
11. Puniya R, Pandey PC, Bisht PS and Singh DK. Nutrient uptake by crop and weeds as influenced by trisulfuron, trisulfuron + pretilachlor and bensulfuron-methyl in transplanted rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Indian Journal of Weed Science*. 2007; 39 (3&4): 239-240.
12. Nanda G, Sravan US, Singh A and Singh SP. Effect of NPK levels and bio-organics on growth, yield and economics of basmati rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cv HUBR 10-9. *Environment and Ecology*. 2016; 34: 1530-1534.
13. Sravan US, Singh SP and Neupane MP. Response of basmati rice varieties to integrated nutrient management. *Journal of plant nutrition*. 2021; 44 (3): 351–365.
14. Bangun P and Syam M. Weed management in rice crops. *PADI*. 1988; 2: 579-599.
15. Mandal B, Vlek PLG and Mandal LN. Beneficial effects of blue-green algae and *Azolla*, excluding supplying nitrogen, on wetland rice fields: a review. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*. 1999; 28: 329-342.
16. Jackson ML, *Soil Chemical Analysis*, Prentice Hall of India Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi. 1973; 1:498.
17. Walkley AJ and Black IA. An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. *Soil Science*. 1934; 37(1): 29-38.
18. Subbiah BW and Asija GL. A rapid procedure for estimation of available nitrogen in soil, *Current Science*, 1956; 25(8): 259-260,.

19. Olsen SR, Cole CV, Watanable FS and Dean LA. Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extracting with sodium bicarbonate. United State Department of Agriculture Circulation. 1954. pp 939.
20. Gomez KA and Gomez AA. Statistical procedures for Agricultural Research. second edition: John Willey and Sons, Inc.. New York, USA. 1984.
21. Mehandi SM, Sarfraz M, Abbas ST, Shabbir G and Akhtar J. Integrated nutrient management for rice-wheat cropping system in a recently reclaimed soil. *Soil Environ.* 2011; 30(1): 36-44.
22. Sunita Gaiind. Effect of organic farming on quality of soil under rice cultivation. *Journal of Agroecology and Natural Resource Management.* 2015; 2 (5): 391-393.
23. Tadesse T, Dechassa N, Bayu W and Gebeyehu S. Effects of farmyard manure and inorganic fertilizer application on soil physico-chemical properties and nutrient balance in rain-fed lowland rice ecosystem, *American Journal of Plant Sciences.* 2013; (4): 309-316.
24. Ali ME, Islam MR and Jahiruddin M. Effect of Integrated Use of Organic Manures with Chemical Fertilizers in the Rice-Rice Cropping System and Its Impact on Soil Health. *Bangladesh Journal of Agricultural Research.* 2009: 34(1): 81-90.
25. Pabby A, Prasanna, Rand and Singh PK. Biological significance of azolla and its utilization in agriculture. *Proceedings of the Indian National Science Academy, Part B. Biological Sciences.* 2004; 70(3): 299-333.
26. Kotpal RL and Bali NP. Concepts of ecology, Environmental and field biology. Visual Publishing Company India. 2003.
27. Thangaraju M and Kannaiyan S. Studies on the urease activity and fertility status of soil by incorporating certain Azolla cultures, 29th Ann Conf Assoc Microbiologists of India, HAU, Hissar. 1989; pp 87.
28. Cheng-Wei L, Yu S, Bo-Ching C, Hung-Yu L. Effects of Nitrogen Fertilizers on the Growth and Nitrate Content of Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*). *International Journal of Environmental research and Public Health.* 2014; 11(4): 4427-40.
29. Oyange, WA, Cheminingwa GN, Kanya, JI and Njiruh, PN. Effects of Azolla and inorganic nitrogen application on growth and yield of rice in mwea irrigation scheme. *International Journal of Agronomy and Agricultural Research.* 2019; 24(3): 1-18.